F	E 620	No.	j		D
/	310	٤.	1	6-97)	E

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

:

:

:

JAN 5 1998

KATHLEEN WEIAND, : Petitioner, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent. :

بچر -- بالنجو

CLERK, SUPREME COURT ₿y_ Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 91,925

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN C. FISHER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0999865

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 9, 1994, an indictment was filed in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in Hillsborough County charging the Appellant, Kathleen Weiand, with premeditated murder with a firearm of Todd Weiand, occurring on January 23, 1994 (v1:R17-18).

On December 20, 1994, Judge Holloway ruled the parties had a continuing discovery obligation, set pretrial discovery deadlines, and compelled all discovery to be completed before the pretrial conference (v19:T2121-2130; v1:R67). A defense motion to treat witness Christi Brockman as hostile was granted (v1:R71-72).

Jury selection was held on Jan. 9-10, 1995, before the Judge Padgett (v1:R81; v2:T1-214). After jury selection on January 10, at hearing before Judge Holloway, an exception to the discovery order was requested for Tracy Bowman who had not been found until this day (v20:T2156-2159, 2161-2163). The State was immediately informed and offered an opportunity to depose Ms. Bowman who was the sole corroborating witness to incidents of Mr. Weiand's abuse of his wife and whom Ms. Weiand told of his threats to kill her if she left (v20:T2155, 2159-2161, 2164). The court granted the motion to strike, and allowed a proffer of Ms. Bowman's testimony¹ (v1:R81; v20:T2156-2157, 2162-2164, 2167-2174; Appendix A).

A jury trial was held between January 10 and 24, 1995, before Judge Padgett (v1:R81-86; v4-18:T229-2039). At the close of the State's case, ruling was reserved on a motion for a directed

¹ The State suggested the judge need not remain during the proffer, but her presence is shown by a remark (v20:T2166-2167).

verdict of second degree murder and a motion for a directed verdict of manslaughter was denied (v1:R82; v8:T754-756).

The State requested that Ms. Weiand "voluntarily" leave the court room during the testimony of Christi Brockman and Dr. Maher² (v8:T760-761). Defense counsel did not object to Ms. Weiand's absence, but no waiver of her presence was sought (v8:T759-761).

The State sought exclusion of defense testimony concerning matters the State asserted Ms. Weiand could not remember (v12:-T1233-1234, 1237, v13:T1438-1440, 1442-1443). The defense asserted Ms. Weiand testified about the presence of Ms. Dumond and Mr. Charles during incidents of physical abuse, they could testify to the violence they observed, and Ms. Weiand had memory problems because of abuse (v:12:T1234-1236, 1238; v13:T1433-1438, 1441, 1444-1445). The defense argued this critical testimony was relevant to Ms. Weiand's perception of the situation during the incident, to the issue of retreat, and to Mr. Weiand's physical abilities (v13:T1435). The State stipulated to the defense account of the proposed testimony (v13:T1433-1441, 1560-1563; Appendix B). The court excluded the testimony and denied the defense motion for mistrial (v12:T1238; v13:T1445; v14:T1561-1562).

The defense moved for judgment of acquittal and argued, "At best the State has proved manslaughter." (v:17:T1893). The court reserved ruling, then denied the motion (v1:R84; v17:T1894, 1913).

² When the defense called Ms. Brockman as its first witness, the State objected despite previously agreeing Ms. Brockman could testify out of order because of personal problems (v8:T758-760). The State had previously stipulated Dr. Maher could testify before Ms. Weiand because of a personal emergency (v7:T628-638).

In closing, the prosecutor asserted that Ms. Weiand was guilty, denigrated the theory of defense and defense witnesses, and asserted the defense manufactured evidence. She stated there was no corroboration to Ms. Weiand's testimony concerning injuries inflicted by her husband. She argued self-defense did not apply because every means of escape had not been exhausted. She asserted Ms. Weiand placed an assault rifle on a daybed in the small bedroom before the shooting (v18:T1927-1941, 1983-2015; Appendix C).

The jury instructions did not include the castle doctrine instruction (v1:R91-114; v18:T2015-2034), despite the defense request (v17:T1898-1899). The defense motions for a mistrial based on the failure to give requested jury instructions were denied (v17:T1913; v18:2035). The jury found Ms. Weiand guilty of second degree murder with a firearm (v1:R85, 115; v18:T2036-2037).

The defense moved for new trial, asserting: the verdict was contrary to the law and to the weight of the evidence; defense witnesses were improperly excluded; and the State violated <u>Brady v.</u> <u>Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by not disclosing information concerning a criminal investigation of a key State witness for extortion and false imprisonment (v1:R118-119). A sworn affidavit of that witness, Deputy Terry, and a memorandum supporting the motion were filed (v1:R120-129; Appendix D). The court denied the motion for new trial, holding there was much testimony about prior violence, testimony was excluded because it was unsupported by Ms. Weiand's testimony, and the investigation would not have been admissible or affected the outcome of the case (v19:T2062-2064).

On February 27, 1995, Ms. Weiand was adjudicated guilty and was sentenced to 18 years imprisonment with a 3 year minimum mandatory (v1:R136, 139-140, 142-144; v19:T2110). A timely notice of appeal was filed on March 13, 1995 (v1:R152-153).

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed Ms. Weiand's conviction, holding the exclusion of three witnesses was harmless error and prosecutorial misconduct was not fundamental error. <u>Weiand v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1707 (Fla. 2d DCA July 11, 1997). On October 22, 1997, the Second District Court of Appeal denied Appellant's motion for rehearing, but certified a question:

> SHOULD THE RULE OF <u>STATE V. BOBBITT</u>, 415 SO. 2D 724 (FLA. 1982), BE CHANGED TO ALLOW THE CASTLE DOCTRINE INSTRUCTION IN CASES WHERE THE DEFENDANT RELIES ON BATTERED-SPOUSE SYNDROME EVIDENCE (AS NOW AUTHORIZED BY <u>STATE V. HICK-</u> SON, 630 SO. 2D 172 (FLA. 1994) TO SUPPORT A CLAIM OF SELF-DEFENSE AGAINST AN AGGRESSOR WHO WAS A COHABITANT OF THE RESIDENCE WHERE THE INCIDENT OCCURRED?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On Sunday, January 23, after a week of begging, Todd Weiand agreed to watch their seven-week-old baby while his wife Kathleen Weiand went to a pool league banquet (v8:T858-859; v10:T1041-1042, 1161; v13:T1416-1419; v16:T1662, 1720-1721). Todd demanded she return by 4:00 P.M. (v8:T859; v10:T1041; v16:T1720). Kathy's participation in a women's pool league was important to her, but her husband opposed it (v10:T1074; v17:T1869, 1881). Kathy's team received a trophy and she had two beers at the banquet (v10:T1043-1044, 1419). Kathy drank beer and shot pool at three pool halls before returning home at 8:30 or 9:00 P. M. (v8:T859; v10:T10441047; v13:T1419-1421; v16:T1662). Her infant Jackie was in her swing in the living room (v10:T1049; v11:T1164-1165).

Todd was furious (v8:T859; v10:T1049; v11:T1161; v16:T1662). He shook her by her arms and screamed at her (v8:T859; v10:T1049; v11:T1161). Kathy screamed back and fought back (v11:T1162, 1168). Although Kathy was nearly the same size as her husband, she was no match for him physically (v11:T1159). Although Todd, a mechanic, lost a leg while in high school and wore a prosthesis, he was very strong and not physically limited except perhaps in kneeling (v8:T823; v9:T939; v10:T1028, 1066; v13:1348-1349; v17:T1848-1850). Kathy was recovering from a recent emergency Caesarian operation (v8:T846-855; v9:T991-998, 1001-1004; v10:T1022-1025; v11:T1138-1139; v14:T1535-1538; v15:T1636-1638, v17:T1805-1815).

Kathy called her mother in Sheboygan for fifteen minutes at 10:34 P.M. (v8:T860; v10:T1047-1050; v11:T1162; v14:T1539, 1555; v16:T1662). She said she could not continue the way she was living and her mother agreed to send money for her to return to Wisconsin (v8:T1050; v11:T1163; v14:T1539, 1555; v16:T1662).

Kathy told Todd she was leaving with the baby and he could have everything (v8:T860-861; v10:T1051-1052; v11:T1165; v16:T1662-1663). In the past Todd beat her severely when she threatened to leave, and he threatened to destroy her possessions if she left, he would find her, he would disable her car, and she better never live in the same state as him (v10:T1051-1052; v11:T1160, 1166).

Todd attacked her, choked her, and told her she wasn't leaving with the baby (v8:T859, 861; v10:T1052; v11:T1166-1168, 1198;

v16:T1663). She passed out, then awoke on the kitchen floor (v8:T860; v10:T1052; v11:T1167-1168; v16:T1663). Kathy chased Todd into the bathroom with a knife from the kitchen (v8:T861, 893; v10:T1053; v11:T1169; v16:T1663). She hacked a hole through the bathroom door to scare Todd to prevent further abuse and to see what he was doing (v8:T861, 897; v10:T1053, 1055; v11:T1168-1169, 1171; v16:T1663). She heard a metallic sound within the bathroom, but did not know if Todd had a weapon (v10:T1053). A metal towel rack was on the back of the door (v10:T1054; v11:T1169). She did not try to enter the bathroom (v10:T1055). She did not try to leave with the baby because she would not have had time to get the baby's things (v11:T1172).

They agreed to a truce -- Todd would stay in the bathroom while Kathy would go to the kitchen (v8:T861; v10:T1055; v11:T1170; v11:T1172-1173, 1199-1200). Todd entered the kitchen and attacked her (v8:T862; v10:T1055-1056; v11:1173, 1200). She grabbed another knife, chased him back to the bathroom, and again hacked at the door (v8:T862, 897; v10:T1056; v11:1173; v16:T1664). This scenario repeated after another promise from Todd (v8:T862; v10:T1056, v11:T1172-1173, 1200). She never tried to cut him (v10:T1060, 1066; v11:T1173; v16:T1663).

Todd tried to hit Kathy's face with a piece of the metal towel rack as she looked at him and tried to talk to him through the hole (v10:T1054, 1056; v11:T1168, 1174, 1200; v16:T1664-1665). When she stepped back, he swung the metal rod and hit her (v10:T1056, 1066; v11:T1168, 1174-1177, 1201; v16:T1664-1665). When she tried to

block his blows with her right arm, he struck her right wrist and she put down the knife which no longer frightened him (v10:T1057, 1066; v11:T1174-1175; v16:T1665). Todd ignored her pleas to stop hitting her and backed her into their bedroom (v10:T1057-1058, 1060, 1066; v11:T1174-1177, 1201; v16:T1665).

Todd kept a 9 mm handgun in the bedroom dresser, which he had taught Kathy to shoot (v9:T986; v10:T1039; v11:T1181-1182). Kathy took the handgun from the dresser while Todd was within striking range with the metal rod (v10:T1058, 1060, 1066; v11:T1177; v16:T1665). Todd ran into the baby's room and closed the door (v10:T1059; v11:T1177; v16:T1728). Todd kept an assault rifle and another rifle in a closet in that room (v9:T985-987; v10:T1037-1038). She fired two shots, testifying she fired one shot at the wall and she did not intend to fire the second shot (v8:T863; v10:1058-1059; v11:1177-1178; v16:T1665, 1728). She did not intend to shoot Todd and did not try to hurt him (v10:T1060, 1066; v16:T1665). Kathy did not know why she did not leave when he ran to the nursery, but believed he wouldn't let her leave (v11:T1182).

She listened to hear whether Todd was getting a gun, but she heard nothing (v8:T863; v10:T1061; v11:T1178). When she opened the door and looked in the room she saw Todd slumped on a corner of the day bed (v8:T863; v10:1062; v11:T1178-1180). The door was unlocked and unobstructed (v11:T1178-1180). Kathy called 911 at 11:22 P.M., and, when no one came, again at 11:29, stating she shot her husband and pleading for help for him until the police arrived at 11:32 P.M. (v8:T863; v10:T1062; v11:T1204; supp:T2184-2190).

Paramedics and Deputies Terry and Santos arrived at the scene (v4:T268-270, 279, 306-307, 311-312, 344; v5:T394-395; v12:T1298-1301; v13:T1319-1320, 1327-1331, 1338). This was Terry's first homicide (v4:T325). The deputies saw no disarray upon entering the home and saw the infant asleep in the living room (v4:T271-272, 275-276, 281, 307, 312, 325-326; v5:T406, 452-453; v13:T1331). Within seconds, Kathy came from a hallway (v4:T273). There was blood on Kathy, including on her face and hands (v4:T273, 276-278). She was handcuffed and taken to a patrol car (v4:T292, 326; v5:T381-384, 393-394; v12:T1301-1303; v13:T1331, 1345). Paramedics were called in the home although normally a scene is secured before paramedics enter (v12:T1299-1301; v13:T1320, 1324, 1331-1332).

Paramedics followed Terry as he searched the home and found Todd laying in the doorway of a bedroom with a towel on his head (v4:T279-280, 285-288, 292, 295, 326-327, 346; v12:T1303-1304, 1310; v13:T1320-1324, 1332-1334, 1339-1343). Todd had a gunshot wound to his forehead, bled badly, was combative, had seizures, was unable to talk or understand, and breathed with difficulty (v4:T301, 334; v12:T1310-1311; v13:T1322, 1326). Although Terry was trained not to disturb evidence, he picked up the handgun which lay near Todd's head and handed it to a paramedic who placed it on the kitchen stove (v4:T280-283, 286-289, 292, 315-319, 326-327, 340-342, 360; v5:T453, 461, 1303, 1332-1333, 1339).

The door to the bathroom was ajar and had a large hole in it (v4:T280-281, 284-287, 290; v5:445-446; v13:T1326). There were wood chips and pieces of knives on the floor (v4:T281, 313-314,

321; v5:T446, 453, 461; v13:T1326). In the larger bedroom, there was a knife bearing a drop of blood on a dresser which had an open drawer (v4:T321-324, 339, 348-350, 357-360; v5:T446, 453, 461; v6:T513-514). There were bullet holes through a hall closet wall and the door to the small bedroom, and there was a large amount of blood on the day bed and the small bedroom floor (v4:T293, 310-311, 335, 350-352; v5:T446-447, 463).

A paramedic suggested the police take photographs before the scene was disturbed (v13:T1322). Four or five paramedics treated Todd (v4:T290-292, 331-332; v13:T1321, 1334-1336, 1344). They repeatedly moved Todd, seeking sufficient room to work, leaving blood on the hallway and living room floors (v4:T276, 281, 283, 300; v5:T444; v13:T1336-1337, 1343). They were concerned with Todd, not with preserving the scene (v4:T333).

Paramedics testified that while they examined the victim, Terry picked up an unencased assault rifle which may have been loaded with a clip (v12:T1305-1307, 1310; v13:T1321, 1324). Terry testified he opened a case which was on the bed and removed an assault rifle (v4:T292-299, 324, 327-331; v5:T462). He examined the weapon, but did not recall whether it contained a magazine and did not check the pockets on the case for a magazine (v4:T296, 298). He flipped the case over on the bloody bed (v4:T293-295, 327-331). Terry did not mention the assault rifle in his field notes, his computer, or his eight page report (v4:T370-371).

Many officers arrived in the residence after the paramedics departed (v4:T301, 331-333; v5:T396-398, 436, 444, 456-457, 469,

481-483; v6:T508-509, 577-578, 604). That night, police collected as evidence: two knife handles and a knife blade from the hallway and bathroom floors; the knife found on the dresser; the spent casings; a bullet from the hole in the wall of the small bedroom; and a loaded 9 mm handgun (v6:T516-524, 533-534, 579, 602). The handgun was operable with a normal trigger pull, it automatically ejected spent shells which could bounce off of objects, ejected shells could be moved by someone's foot, the expended shells may have been fired from the gun, and the bullet found in the bedroom wall was fired from the gun (v7:T662-681, 714-719).

The police failed to collect as evidence: the bathroom and bedroom doors; the assault rifle, and a knife blade found in the small bedroom (v6:T519, 528-532, 579-581, 585, 596-597, 600-603, 608-610). A detective testified knife pieces near the bathroom door may have been moved during rescue efforts (v5:T453). The police also failed to collect a broken metal towel rack which was in the bathroom or to look for or notice a metal rod in the small bedroom, asserting they did not know Kathy said she had been hit with a metal rod (v6:T535-537, 547-548, 594-596).

The manager began cleanup of the apartment after receiving permission from police (v12:T1252-1253; v14:T1483-1486). She found the assault rifle in a case on the day bed and cleaned the bloody case (v14:T1468-1488, 1492). Loaded and empty magazines were in pockets of the case (v6:T609-610). Two days after the incident, police collected the assault rifle and a knife blade which had been near the day bed in response to a call from the manager (v6:T583-

584, 602, 605; v14:T1488, 1494). Blood on the case and blood on the knife blade found near a puddle of untested blood on the small bedroom floor could been Todd's, but not Kathy's (v6:T566-568, 655-657). Blood on the other blade could have been Kathy's, but not Todd's (v6:T564-565, 570-571; v7:T654-655).

A week after the incident, police impounded the bathroom door which had been removed by the manager (v6:T538, 586, 605-606; v14:T1494-1495). Blood on the bathroom door could have been Kathy's, but not Todd's (v6:T570-571). The hollow door had a thin flimsy particle material skin and most of the damage to the door occurred outside the bathroom (v7:T683-685, 720-722).

The manager threw away pieces of the towel rack which were in the bathroom because a piece was missing (v12:T1253-1260; v14:-T1488-1489). The manager later unsuccessfully attempted to recover the towel rack pieces when she found another piece of the towel rack under the day bed in the small bedroom (v12:T1254-1260; v14:T1490). This piece was bent and blood splattered (v14:T1490). She left it in the bedroom and it was later secured by the defense investigator (v12:T1247-1250, 1258-1259; v14:T1490-1491). The minute amount of blood remaining on the metal rod could have been Todd's, but not Kathy's (v6:T570-574; v7:T656).

A bullet had passed through the hallway wall and lodged in a breaker box in the closet; another bullet passed through the door to the small bedroom and lodged in a wall of the small bedroom (v5:T446-450, 510-515). The bullet lodged in the breaker box and was later recovered by the defense (v12:T1246-1247, 1458).

While police investigated, Deputy Hoover kept Kathy in the back seat of a patrol car. He saw no injury other than saw redness on her wrist which he opined could have been caused by the handcuffs and he believed the blood on her clothing was consistent with the dispatch report that she held her husband in her lap (v5:T382, 405-406; v5:T411). Hoover testified Kathy alternately cried, then calmed and talked, for half an hour (v5:T388, 396, 402-405). When Hoover responded to this home on a previous occasion, he gave Kathy pamphlets for "the Spring" (v5:T403-404).

Numerous other officers separately entered the car to obtain consent to search the residence (v5:T396-399, 436-443, 453-455, 458-459, 469-470, 479, 484-486, 489). They testified Kathy was hysterical and temporarily insane, had alcohol on her breath, and complained of an injured wrist (v5:T438-439, 458, 470, 479, 493).

During conversations with officers, Kathy said: she loved her husband, but he was mean; she told a doctor that she "was losing it," but the doctor said this was normal after having a baby; she sought help from "the Spring" (a battered women's shelter), but her calls were not returned; she called her mother that day to say she hated her husband and wanted to leave him, but he said she could never leave or take the baby; her husband choked her and she lost it; her husband hit her three times on the wrist with a metal pole; she wanted to scare her husband with the gun, did not aim at him, and did not intend to shoot him; and she was concerned about her husband and baby (v5:T385-388, 401-408, 412-413, 439, 460, 487, 490-493, 498-500). Hoover testified Kathy never mentioned the term

"self defense," including when she spoke about being struck with a metal pole (v5:T407).

Terry and Hoover believed that paramedics examined Kathy for injuries, but the paramedics denied examining her (v4:T342, 388, 393, 408-409; v12:T1307-1308; v13:T1323, 1327, 1337-1339, 1345). At 1:00 A.M., Kathy was taken to a substation to relieve her bladder (v5:T388-389, 399-400, 422). An officer escorting her did not look for and did not see injuries (v5:T389, 399-400, 415, 423). Kathy remained in bloody clothing and was not given shoes or a jacket (v5:T401, 407). She was returned to the scene and Terry took custody of her 15 minutes later (v4:T352; v5:T389-390, 407).

Terry drove Kathy to the Sheriff's Office (v4:T352-354). He testified Kathy repeatedly made statements similar to those made to the other officers, but allegedly also said, "He hit my wrists with like a steel pipe trying to defend himself." (v4:T312, 326, 342, 353-354, 363-368, 370). She alternated between being upset, depressed, and angry (v4:T354-356, 363-364). Terry testified Kathy was the most talkative woman he had ever met (v4:T368). Terry later wrote these statements from memory (v4:T364-365, 368-370).

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