#### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

JAN 26 1998

CLERK, SUFTYERE COURT

Chief Departy Clerk

#### KATHLEEN WEIAND,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 91, 925

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DECISION, SECOND DISTRICT

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL** 

#### **ROBERT J. KRAUSS**

Sr. Assistant Attorney General V Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 0238538

#### SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

## **COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT**

#

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

Ms. Goudie (prosecutor): If the defendant voluntarily leaves the courtroom, and I'm going to have the same concern with Dr. Maher, which has always been my concern with that whole concept, that she's sitting in here before she testifies.

Ms. Morgan: I don't care.

Ms. Goudie: And they're not going to raise any issues as to that on appeal, it's a voluntary removal form the trial, I don't have a problem.

Ms. Morgan: Judge, I don't have a problem with Kathy leaving. I think the Court needs to give some explanation as to why she's going, perhaps these witnesses have personal problems that prevented them--

(TR. 759-60).

The trial court then went on to discuss a proposed instruction for the jury to explain Petitioner's voluntary absence from the courtroom. The trial court read the proposed instruction for the defense counsel and prosecutor:

"That the defendant would ordinarily testify before the next witness is going to testify so that she can't mold her testimony so as to conform to the testimony of the witness you're about to be hearing, but she's read the deposition, she probably knows the questions and answers." (TR. 761). In response to the proposed instruction, defense counsel stated: "Defense has no objection." (TR. 761). Whereupon, Ms. Goudie stated, "Judge, I would like it to be clear that she's not being sent out." (TR. 761). The prosecutor also stated, without objection or clarification: "She's voluntarily leaving. She has a right to be present." (TR. 761). Petitioner was not absent from the courtroom during any of the dialogue between the trial court, prosecutor and defense counsel.

When the jury returned, the trial court again made it clear that the Petitioner was voluntarily leaving the courtroom, stating: "[S]o Ms. Brockman can testify now, get back to Wisconsin and take care of her family, the defendant is going to voluntarily leave the courtroom." (TR. 762). Consequently, it is quite clear that based upon the dialogue below, Petitioner not only failed to object to being outside of the courtroom for the testimony of two defense witnesses but that she sought through counsel to induce her exclusion in order to gain the premature admission of that testimony.

In Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 943, 108 S.Ct. 1123 (1988), the defendant argued that failure to include him and the trial court in a jury view of the crime scene was reversible error. While noting that the defendant had a right to be present at the scene and that the trial judge was required to accompany counsel to the scene, this Court found defense counsel

specifically waived the trial court's presence at the scene. <u>Roberts</u>, 510 So.2d at 889-90. This Court rejected the defendant's argument that notwithstanding counsel's waiver there is no record of a "knowing and intelligent waiver" from him and therefore reversal was required. <u>Id.</u> at 890. "To hold otherwise would allow Roberts to benefit from this clearly invited error." <u>Id.</u>

The Court also found the defendant's presence at the jury view was waived by counsel after consultation with his client. This Court noted that no evidence or testimony was presented at the view and that "a defendant's absence can in no way thwart the fairness of the proceeding." Roberts, 510 So.2d at 890. Thus, the Court found that "the waiver by defense counsel after consultation with the defendant serves as an adequate waiver of Roberts' right to be present at the jury view."<sup>14</sup> Id.

Here, the evidence of invited error and waiver is even more compelling than in <u>Roberts</u>. Defense counsel was the first to offer appellant's voluntary absence in order to present the testimony of Dr. Maher and Ms. Brockman before the defendant testified. In <u>Roberts</u>, the defense counsel merely affirmed after the jury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The court initially remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether or not defense counsel discussed waiver of presence with the defendant.



view had been conducted that he had agreed to waive the defendant's presence at the scene. Here, defense counsel proposed the defendant absent herself from the proceedings prior to her physically leaving the courtroom instead of merely ratifying the waiver after the fact as in <u>Roberts</u>.

The prosecutor expressed some concern about the Petitioner leaving, stating: "And they're not going to raise any issues as to that on appeal, it's a voluntary removal form the trial, I don't have a problem." (TR. 759-60). Thus, if the defense counsel or Petitioner had any concern about her temporary absence from the proceedings they had ample opportunity to voice their concerns. Instead, the trial court and the State were led to acquiesce to the Petitioner's absence from the proceedings by the dialogue below, and the State now is confronted with an issue on appeal which was clearly invited by the Petitioner and her defense counsel below. See Pollock v. Bryson, 450 So.2d 1183, 1186 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)(A defendant "should not be encouraged nor allowed to take advantage, on appeal or collateral attack, of an error he initiated or induced below."); Weber v. State, 602 So.2d 1316, 1319 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)("Defense counsel should not be allowed to sandbag the trial judge by requesting and approving an instruction they know or should know will result in automatic reversal, if given.").

However, even if the trial court erred in not obtaining Petitioner's personal

imprimatur of approval on defense counsel's invitation to take the testimony of two defense witnesses in her absence, the error was harmless in this case. A defendant's absence from a portion of the trial is subject to a harmless error analysis. <u>Roberts</u>, 510 So.2d at 891.

While Petitioner claims in her brief that she could have assisted counsel in examining Ms. Brockman (Petitioner's Brief at 50), it is clear Petitioner was familiar with Ms. Brockman's anticipated testimony and had discussed her testimony with defense counsel. In proposing her voluntary absence, defense counsel stated: "It's not going to prejudice the State. The State can ask Kathleen Weiand if she has read Christi Brockman's deposition, she has, she'll admit she has." (TR. 759). Thus, it is quite clear neither Petitioner nor her defense counsel believed that her presence would be beneficial during Ms. Brockman's examination.

Petitioner has offered nothing on appeal which suggests she could have assisted in defense counsel's examination of Dr. Maher. Since Petitioner was represented by competent counsel during her absence and alleges no deficiency in counsel's examination of Dr. Maher or Ms. Brockman, it is clear Petitioner suffered no prejudice from her temporary absence.

31

# WHETHER A NEW TRIAL IS REQUIRED BY DISCOVERY AFTER TRIAL THAT A STATE WITNESS WAS UNDER INVESTIGATION FOR AN UNRELATED INCIDENT AT THE TIME OF HIS TRIAL TESTIMONY? (RESTATED BY RESPONDENT).

Petitioner next claims that the failure of the State to disclose the investigation of Deputy Terry for abusing his position and photographing a woman naked at the time he testified requires reversal of her conviction. Although the prosecutor had no personal knowledge of this investigation, the defense counsel below argued that knowledge should be imputed to the State. However, even if knowledge is properly imputed to the prosecutor, non-disclosure of this information would not have revealed effective impeachment material. Therefore reversal of Petitioner's conviction is not required.

The problem with Petitioner's argument on appeal is that the pending investigation of Deputy Terry had nothing to do with the instant case. As noted by the prosecutor below: "Deputy Derek Terry is being investigated for is (sic) during an off duty job at a McDonald's he allegedly took some pictures of a woman who was riding naked in a car. After he had her removed from the car, he took her somewhere else and apparently took pictures of her. That's what the allegations are, and I'm getting my information from the newspaper so everybody is clear." (TR. 2060). Obviously, his sexual misconduct in that situation has no bearing on his bias or credibility in this murder case. Since no charges were pending at trial, or even on the motion for new trial, there was nothing related to the instant case which was relevant to witness credibility.

Deputy Terry's trial testimony did not differ in any significant respect from his pretrial deposition and police report made after the shooting. Thus, there is no danger that Deputy Terry in any way changed his testimony in this case to curry favor with the prosecution. The prosecutor aptly made this argument below, stating:

. . . Your Honor, Deputy Terry's testimony did not change in any way at all whatsoever since he gave his deposition in April of 1994 to the defense. The incident that he was being investigated for apparently occurred sometime in November of 1994, more than -well, eleven months after he wrote police reports, which included her statement, the defendant's statement of he hit me with the metal pole in self-defense, which included his observations of what he saw and where he saw them and which included the statements that he makes in his deposition to Ms. Morgan prior to being under any investigations or any allegations against him.

The only change in his testimony, in fact, and Ms. Morgan is correct, is that on the stand he stated, which he had stated to me earlier when he and I were talking, that when he was shown the photograph of the day bed where the assault weapon was, he said, no, it actually wasn't up that high, it was lower, that to tell you the truth and to confess here for the record was not something that was beneficial at all for the State, and I don't know how in any way or



stretch of the imagination that Ms. Morgan can say that was critical to the State at all, that a deputy changes his testimony on the stand and says, no, the gun was actually lower on the bed. . . .

(TR. 2057-58).

The prosecutor noted that the evidence which led to the theory that Petitioner actually placed the assault weapon on the bed was the knife found in the nursery: "The critical piece of evidence that led us to that theory was the fact that there was a knife -- a broken knife blade right by the day bed and we knew that this victim never possessed a knife. So how in the world did that knife get there? And that's when the State came up with, oh, my God, she's the one that did it, okay?" (TR. 2057-58).

Based upon the facts of the alleged violation, Petitioner has not even shown a primae facie Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963) violation. In establishing a Brady violation, a defendant must prove: (1) the prosecutor suppressed evidence; (2) the evidence was favorable to the defense; and, (3) the evidence was material. <u>Sellers v. Estelle</u>, 651 F.2d 1074 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 927, 102 S.Ct. 1292, 71 L.Ed.2d 472 (1982).

"The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense." <u>United States v. Agurs</u>, 427 U.S. 97, 109-10, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 2400, 49 L.Ed.2d 342 (1976). "Suppressed evidence useful only for impeachment purposes is material if its disclosure probably would have resulted in acquittal." <u>United States v. Darwin</u>, 757 F.2d 1193, 1202 (11th Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 106 S.Ct. 896, 88 L.Ed.2d 930 (1985); <u>Porter v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1995)(citations omitted), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S.Ct 1816, 131 L.Ed.2d 739 (1996). As discussed above, the unrelated investigation of Deputy Terry was not material in this case.

After listening to the arguments of counsel, the trial court denied Petitioner's motion for a new trial, stating:

... It's important, also, to point out that it was at the time merely an investigation as opposed to charged on public record, which he could have been asked about. And it certainly wasn't a conviction, which he certainly could have been asked about.

So reading from two parts of <u>Breedlove</u>, which I think are applicable to our case, I'll just state for the record that the trial court concludes that there is no reasonable probability that the evidence of the detective's criminal activities would have changed the outcome of Ms. Weiand's trial because such evidence would not have been admissible and therefore is not material.

And Deputy Terry's activities, if, in fact, criminal, we don't know because he's innocent until proven guilty, were collateral to any issues in Ms. Weiand's trial and any questions about his activities would not have promoted the ends of justice. Such questions would not have been permissible because of the Fifth Amendment right that Deputy Terry or Officer Terry has . . . .

(TR. 2063-64).



In Breedlove v. State, 580 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Supreme Court addressed a similar situation. The defendant in Breedlove argued that "evidence of the testifying detectives' criminal activities could have been used to show their bias in testifying for the prosecution in order to gain more favorable treatment if and when the state proceeded against them." 580 So.2d at 607. Although the Breedlove court noted that a defendant has an absolute right to bring out pending felony charges, the right to bring out a pending investigation is limited. "If a state witness is merely under investigation, however, the ability to cross-examine on such investigation is not absolute." The investigation must "not be too remote in time and must be related to the case at hand to be relevant." Breedlove, 580 So.2d at 608. (emphasis added). And, evidence is not relevant "when the conduct and investigations are totally unrelated to the case at bar." Id. at 609.

As in <u>Breedlove</u>, the case <u>sub judice</u> is completely unrelated to the investigation of Deputy Terry for alleged sexual impropriety and apparent abuse of his position while off duty. The investigation simply does not implicate any interest or bias that Deputy Terry might have had in the instant case. And, since Terry's testimony was consistent with earlier police reports and depositions in the case prior to his investigation for the alleged misconduct, it is clear that this information would have no impact upon the verdict in this case. Consequently,

36

the trial court properly denied Petitioner's motion for a new trial in this case.

V.

## WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S UNOBJECTED TO COMMENTS IN CLOSING VIOLATED PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL? (RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Petitioner next complains that the prosecutor's comments in closing argument were so prejudicial that they constitute fundamental error. The Second District agreed that the tenor of the prosecutor's argument may have crossed the line, but concluded that the argument did not constitute fundamental error. Weiand, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1708. Petitioner has offered no compelling reasons for this Court to examine this issue. And, the State submits that Petitioner cannot carry her burden to establish fundamental error based upon this record.

In order to preserve a claim for prosecutorial misconduct: "[C]ounsel has the obligation to object and request a mistrial. If counsel fails to object or if, after having objected, fails to move for a mistrial, his silence will be considered an implied waiver." Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336, 1340 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 164, 116 L.Ed.2d (1991). Because Petitioner failed to either contemporaneously object or move for a mistrial based upon the prosecutor's comments during closing argument, the alleged errors have not been preserved for appellate review. Nixon, 572 So.2d at 1340; Wilson v. State, 549 So.2d 702 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), aff'd, 577 So.2d 1300 (Fla. 1991). It is also well settled that when a potential error is not presented to the trial court, an accused has waived the allegation of error on appeal. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) post conviction relief denied, 574 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1991)("except in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court.").

Petitioner has not established error in the prosecutor's closing argument, let alone the type of error required to be considered fundamental. Addressing the application of fundamental error, the Second District Court of Appeal has stated the following:

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